# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

# No. 2009-CA-00554

SHENANDOAH H. CLARK AND CHRISTIE CLARK **PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS** 

v.

TOYOTA MOTOR SALES U.S.A., INC., ET AL.

**DEFENDANTS-APPELLEES** 

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY HONORABLE WINSTON L. KIDD, CIRCUIT JUDGE CIVIL ACTION NO. 251-01-1486CIV

# BRIEF OF APPELLANTS SHENANDOAH H. CLARK AND CHRISTIE CLARK

**ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED** 

Wayne E. Ferrell, Jr. (MSB No. 405 Tombigbee Street Post Office Box 24448 Jackson, Mississippi 39225 (601) 969-4700

# **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

- I. Whether the Trial Court Abused its Discretion in Failing to Grant Plaintiffs' Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict and/or Motion for New Trial.
- II. Whether the Trial Court Abused its Discretion in Allowing Jurors to View the Subject Vehicle and Defendants' "Exemplar" Vehicle Outside the Courtroom at an Inspection Not Attended, Supervised, or Controlled by the Court.
- III. Whether the Trial Court Erred in Submitting Special Verdict Sheets to the Jury Without the Court-Ordered Modifications, Thereby Prejudicing Plaintiffs.
- IV. Whether the Trial Court Abused its Discretion in Disallowing Plaintiffs' Motion to Strike the Opinions of Defendants' Expert, Lee Carr, and Further Abused its Discretion When it Prohibited Plaintiffs from Calling a Rebuttal Witness Regarding the Testimony of Lee Carr.
- V. Whether the Trial Court Abused its Discretion in Denying Plaintiffs' Motion for New Trial in Light of the Fact That Defense Counsel in Closing Made Arguments Which Circumvented the Prior Rulings of the Trial Court, Caused Jury Bias and Unfairly Prejudiced Plaintiffs.
- VI. Whether the Trial Court Abused its Discretion, Taking the Above-listed Errors *in Toto*, in Denying Plaintiffs' Motion for New Trial.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# I. Nature of Case and Course of Proceedings.

This matter concerns the claims of Plaintiffs who contend the 2000 Toyota Tundra TRD truck<sup>1</sup> driven by Shenandoah Clark was defective and caused enhanced, severe and permanently disabling injuries that he sustained in the early hours of July 12, 2001. [R. Vol. 1, 19-28.] Clark was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The subject vehicle was particularly a Toyota Racing Development Off-Road truck.

driving the Tundra along Highway 305 in DeSoto County, when the truck went off the road in a curve near the intersection of Highway 305 and Vaiden Road resulting in Clark's hitting an embankment and the Tundra's rolling over. The truck's roof integrity failed, causing it to inappropriately invade the truck's cabin, crushing Clark's neck. After the accident, Clark was found held in the truck by his seatbelt upside down, air bag engaged, with a later-confirmed quadriplegic injury. Plaintiffs' claims are supported by the fact that the roof on the passenger's side of the Tundra did not fail and did not collapse and the passenger walked away without significant injuries.

Plaintiffs, Shenandoah H. Clark and Christie Clark, filed suit against Defendants, Toyota Motor Sales U.S.A., Inc., Toyota Motor Company, Ltd., Toyota Motor Corporation, Toyota Motor Distributors, Inc. and Roper Toyota, Inc. on December 28, 2001. [R. Vol. 1, 19-28.] The District Court submitted this case to the jury on Monday, October 20, 2008. The jury returned a verdict for Defendants and the clerk entered judgment on October 21, 2008. [R. 208-13; R.E. 2.] Plaintiffs filed their Combined Motion and Memorandum for J.N.O.V. or, In the Alternative, for a New Trial October 31, 2008; however, the District Court entered its order denying the motion on March 2, 2009. [R. 214-27, 250; R.E. 3.] Aggrieved by this decision, Plaintiffs timely filed their Notice of Appeal. [R. 251-53.]

# II. Statement of the Facts.

Shenandoah Clark ("Clark"), on the evening of July 11, 2001, went to Buster's with his friend Jonathan to shoot pool. [R. Vol. 8, 853:22-29, 892:6-11.] Earlier that day he had been working at home on a honey- do list, including yard work and removing wallpaper, at the house he and his wife had recently purchased. [R. Vol. 8, 853:12-17.]<sup>2</sup> While at Buster's, Clark saw Kevin

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>His wife, Christie, had come home late that afternoon from work after getting a Phenergan shot for nausea and went to bed to rest. [R. Vol. 8, 853:20-22.]

Knight ("Knight") and Grant Roper who talked with Clark about going to Tunica. [R. Vol. 8, 854:10-13.] Clark, deciding to make the trip with them went to Knight's to meet the group, but only Clark and Knight ultimately left for Tunica. [R. Vol. 8, 854:13-16.] The two went in Knight's 2000 Toyota Tundra TRD with Knight driving, but as they started down the road he was feeling tired and asked Clark if he would mind driving. [R. Vol. 8, 854:18-28.] Knight pulled over, Clark got in the driver's seat, buckled his seat belt and they began traveling down Highway 78. [R. Vol. 8, 854:28-855:1.]

Clark normally took Highway 302 to Tunica, but decided to take Exit 305 because it was shorter. [R. Vol. 8, 855:6-13.] He had learned of this route when he delivered goods to Tunica in his capacity as a truck driver when the 18-wheeler's computer system provided the alternate directions. [R. Vol. 8, 855:7-13.] At some point, Knight laid back his seat and went to sleep. [R. Vol. 8, 893:1-27.]

As the truck rounded the corner of the curve near the intersection of Highway 305 and Vaiden Road, the truck went off the road as Clark reached down for a cd. [R. Vol. 5, 329:2-3; Vol. 8, 855:16-20.] The vehicle exited the west side of Highway 305, 200 feet (200') south of Vaiden Road, then intersected with the north side of Vaiden Road, striking the raised embankment area, and came to rest overturned in a field in the southwest corner of the intersection. [R. Vol. 5, 329:3-5, 329:16-330:1. *See also* Tr. Ex. 5, Tr. Ex. D-106 (id) (Accident Report); Tr. Ex. D-94 (id) (Rollover Dynamics).] The driver's side roof collapsed, crushing Clark's neck, rendering him a paraplegic.

The life-altering accident occurred at approximately 12:52 a.m., July 12, 2001. [Tr. Ex. D-106 (id) (Accident Report).] Knight awoke upside down in the Tundra, finding Clark unconscious, "sitting" in his seat upside down, air bag engaged and the roof of the Tundra pushing his head down. [R. Vol. 8, 671:19-20, 672:26-675:1.] Knight crawled out of the broken window and immediately

. . .

saw the blue lights of a police car. [R. Vol. 8, 671:20-21, 675:15-17.] Both Clark and Knight were flown to Memphis Medical Center by helicopter where Knight was released with "just bruises, scratches and cuts." [R. Vol. 8, 675:19-21, 24-29.] Clark, on the other hand, was informed that he would never walk again. [R. Vol. 8, 858:5-7.]

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A motion for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict tests the legal sufficiency of the evidence. *White v. Yellow Freight Sys., Inc.*, 905 So. 2d 506,  $510(\P 6)$  (Miss. 2004) (citing *Tharp v. Bunge Corp.*, 641 So. 2d 20, 23 (Miss. 1994)). The trial court must consider all the evidence in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Id.* (citing *Janssen Pharmaceutica, Inc. v. Bailey*, 878 So. 2d 31, 54 (¶ 107) (Miss. 2004)). "If the facts and inferences so considered point so overwhelmingly in favor of the movant that reasonable jurors could not have arrived at a contrary verdict," then the circuit court must grant the motion. *Id.* In the matter *sub judice*, the evidence was insufficient to uphold the verdict. Plaintiffs contend that the verdict was also against the overwhelming weight of the evidence and, as such, request that this Court remand this matter for a new trial.

Pursuant to Rule 59 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, a trial judge may grant a new trial when justice so requires. According to the Mississippi Supreme Court, "a new trial becomes appropriate when a trial court determines that error within the trial mechanism itself has caused a legally incorrect or unjust verdict to be rendered." *White v. Stewman*, 932 So. 2d 27, 33 (Miss. 2006). Stated differently, the Court has held that:

A new trial may be granted in a number of circumstances, such as when the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, or when the jury has been confused by faulty jury instructions, or when the jury has departed from its oath and its verdict is a result of bias, passion, and prejudice. Poole ex rel. Wrongful Death Beneficiaries of Poole v. Avara, 908 So. 2d 716 (¶ 25) (Miss. 2005). See also Coho Resources, Inc. v. Chapman, 913 So. 2d 899 (¶ 28) (Miss. 2005).

Plaintiffs respectfully submit that the Court should grant a new trial as permitted for the following reasons: (1) the trial court abused its discretion in allowing jurors to view the subject vehicle and Defendants' "exemplar" vehicle outside the courtroom at an inspection not attended, supervised, or controlled by the court; (2) the trial court erred in submitting the special verdict sheets to the jury without the Court-ordered modifications, thereby prejudicing Plaintiffs; (3) the trial court abused its discretion in disallowing Plaintiffs' motion to strike the opinions of Lee Carr ("Carr")<sup>3</sup> and further abused its discretion when it prohibited Plaintiffs from calling a rebuttal witness regarding the recently disclosed testimony of Carr, specifically that testimony concerning the Exponent test; and (4) Defense counsel in closing made arguments which circumvented the prior rulings of the trial court, caused jury bias and unfairly prejudiced Plaintiffs. As discussed more fully below a new trial may be granted for any of the above-stated reasons individually, keeping in mind, however, that the cumulative effect of these errors is particularly prejudicial to Plaintiffs warranting a reversal and a remand for new trial.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

#### I. Motion for J.N.O.V./Motion for New Trial.

This Court's standard of review in considering a lower court's denial of a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict is de novo. *Wilson v. Gen. Motors Acceptance Corp.*, 883 So. 2d 56, 64 (Miss. 2004). This Court applies an abuse of discretion standard of review to a trial court's grant or denial of a motion for a new trial. *White v. Yellow Freight Sys., Inc.*, 905 So. 2d 506, 510 (Miss. 2004) (citing *Green v. Gant*, 641 So. 2d 1203, 1207 (Miss. 1994)). The Court reviews the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Defendants' accident reconstructionist.

evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party and will reverse "only when, upon review of the entire record, we are left with a firm and definite conviction that the verdict, if allowed to stand, would work a miscarriage of justice." *Id.* at 510-11 (citing *Green*, 641 So. 2d at 1207-08).

#### II. Admission or Exclusion of Evidence.

"The standard of review regarding admission or exclusion of evidence is abuse of discretion. Where error involves the admission or exclusion of evidence, this Court will not reverse unless the error adversely affects a substantial right of a party." *Whitten v. Cox*, 799 So. 2d 1, 13 (Miss. 2000) (quoting *Floyd v. City of Crystal Springs*, 749 So. 2d 110, 113 (Miss. 1999)).

#### **III.** Jury Instructions.

Jury instructions are generally within the discretion of the trial court, so the standard of review for the denial of jury instructions is abuse of discretion. *Davis v. State*, 18 So. 3d 842, 847 (Miss. 2009) (citing *Higgins v. State*, 725 So. 2d 220, 223 (Miss. 1998)). The Mississippi Supreme Court has explained that jury instructions must be considered together:

In determining whether error lies in the granting or refusal of various instructions, the instructions actually given must be read as a whole. When so read, if the instructions fairly announce the law of the case and create no injustice, no reversible error will be found. There is no error if all instructions taken as a whole fairly, but not necessarily perfectly, announce the applicable rules of law.

Rubenstein v. State, 941 So. 2d 735, 784-85 (Miss. 2006) (internal quotations and citations omitted).

#### **IV.** Inappropriate Argument.

"The standard of review that appellate courts must apply to lawyer misconduct during opening statements or closing arguments is whether the natural and probable effect of the improper argument is to create unjust prejudice ... so as to result in a decision influenced by the prejudice so created." *Burr v. Mississippi Baptist Med. Ctr.*, 909 So. 2d 721, 724-25 (¶ 7) (Miss. 2005) (quoting *Eckman v. Moore*, 876 So. 2d 975, 994 (¶ 73) (Miss. 2004)). The Supreme Court has held

that "any alleged improper comment must be viewed in context, taking the circumstances of the case into consideration." *Id.* 

#### ARGUMENT

# I. The Trial Court Abused its Discretion in Failing to Grant Plaintiffs' Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict and/or Motion for a New Trial.

In considering a lower court's denial of a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, the standard of review is de novo. *Wilson v. Gen. Motors Acceptance Corp.*, 883 So. 2d 56, 64 (Miss. 2004). The trial court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party and look only to the sufficiency, and not the weight, of that evidence. *Id.* at 63. If such evidence were insufficient to uphold the verdict when considering all of the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, the trial court must grant the motion for a j.n.o v.

Here Plaintiffs submit the evidence, when taken as a whole and when viewed in the light most favorable to Defendants, established Defendants' negligence. Particularly, the evidence was insufficient to uphold the verdict when removing from consideration the objectionable evidence posited by Defendants, *i.e.* Carr's second reconstruction and the Exponent test. *See Poole ex rel. Wrongful Death Beneficiaries of Poole v. Avara*, 908 So. 2d 716, 727 (¶ 24) (Miss. 2005).

Further, Plaintiffs submit to the Court that the verdict was also against the weight of the evidence. At the trial of this matter, Plaintiffs presented evidence that the 2000 Toyota Tundra TRD was not a safe vehicle and, as a result, caused and/or enhanced the injuries sustained by Shenandoah Clark, including paraplegia. The vehicle, designed for off-road use and known by Toyota to have a higher ground clearance and to be more likely to roll,<sup>4</sup> was *lacking* in its ability to protect occupants from roof crush.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>See Tr. Ex. 29 (2000 Toyota Tundra Owner's Manual, p. iv).

The Tundra, with its access cab, did not have sufficient strength and/or support to keep the roof from crushing in on Clark during the rollover, despite his being belted. [R. Vol. 6, 488:26-489:3.] In designing the access cab, Toyota removed the middle post (B-pillar) that four-door trucks and cars have and created a door that latched. [R. Vol. 6, 486:14-487:24; Tr. Ex. 30.] Toyota inserted steel for reinforcement to meet the government standard; however, alternative designs were available and being implemented by other automobile manufacturers, providing stronger, safer vehicles. [R. Vol. 6, 476:20-481:7; 486:1-8.]

Plaintiffs evidence showed the accident, as well as Clark's injuries, occurred in phases as Clark's body moved within the cabin of the truck, despite being belted. *See* R. Vol. 9, 955:3-958:6. *See also* Tr. Ex. P-78 (id); Tr. Ex. D-94 (id) (Rollover Dynamics).

Defendants' argued that Clark's paraplegia was the result of a one-time "diving injury" which would have occurred regardless of the strength of the roof. Violent force and speed were needed to convince the jury of such a position.<sup>5</sup> The theory of this type of injury hinged on the opinions of Lee Carr, whose second accident reconstruction and last-minute Exponent test were not only unscientific, unreliable, and inadmissible, but also prejudicial, particularly when the trial court refused to allow Plaintiffs to put on testimony to rebut the testimony of Carr that was disclosed to Plaintiffs just days before the discovery deadline.

# II. The Trial Court Abused Its Discretion in Allowing Jurors to View the Subject Vehicle and Defendants' "Exemplar" Vehicle Outside the Courtroom at an Inspection Not Attended, Supervised or Controlled by the Court.

Although the decision to conduct a view or inspection is discretionary, the manner in which one is obtained and/or conducted is not. Mississippi enacted legislation setting forth the specific

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Notably, Carr's first reconstruction, showed speeds lower than Plaintiffs' reconstructionist Jerry Wallingford.

criteria for a jury's trial viewing. Pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated § 13-5-91 (1972):

When, in the opinion of the court, on the trial of any cause, civil or criminal, it is proper, in order to reach the ends of justice, for the court and jury to have a view or inspection of the property which is the subject of litigation, or the place at which the offense is charged to have been committed, or the place or places at which any material fact occurred, or of any material object or thing in any way connected with the evidence in the case, the court may, at its discretion, enter an order providing for such view or inspection as is herein below directed. After such order is entered, the whole organized court, consisting of the judge, jury, clerk, sheriff, and the necessary number of deputy sheriffs, shall proceed, in a body, to such place or places, property, object or thing to be so viewed or inspected, which shall be pointed out and explained to the court and jury by the witnesses in the case, who may, at the discretion of the court, be questioned by the court and by the representative of each side at the time and place of such view or inspection, in reference to any material fact brought out by such view or inspection. The court on such occasion shall remain in session from the time it leaves the courtroom till it returns thereto, and while so in session outside the courtroom it shall have full power to compel the attendance of witnesses, to preserve order, to prevent disturbance and to punish for contempt such as it has when sitting in the courtroom. . . .

Miss. Code Ann. § 13-5-91 (1972) (emphasis added). See also Miss. Code § 1800 (1942); Miss.

Code § 2066 (1930). While a trial court has discretionary authority to allow a jury to view property

or a material object or thing in any way connected with the case, that authority is not boundless. The

court does not have the discretion to not attend, supervise or control the jury view. Section 13-5-91

specifically states:

[T]he whole organized court, consisting of the judge, jury, clerk, sheriff, and the necessary number of deputy sheriffs, shall proceed, in a body, to such place or places, property, object or thing to be so viewed ....

In disregard of Section 13-5-91, the "organized court" did not attend the view, nor were witnesses utilized at the view to point out and/or explain any details regarding the vehicles.

In addition to the statutory guidelines, the Court has held that a request for a view should not be granted unless it is reasonably certain that it will be of essential aid to the jury in reaching a correct verdict, and not merely of some aid, and that it is impracticable and inefficient to present material elements to the jury by photographs, diagrams or measurements. *Floyd v. Williams*, 198 Miss. 350 (1945), 22 So. 2d 365 (Miss. 1945).

As the Supreme Court has explained, "[t]he request for a view may be made orally, in the absence of the jury, and transcribed into the court reporter's record; but the request must state the facts which bring the application within the rule heretofore and hereinabove laid down, and if the other party object or challenge the facts, the court must hear evidence or sworn statements, touching those facts which must be reported in the transcript otherwise no order for a view can be validly made." *Poteete v. City of Water Valley*, 207 Miss. 173, 42 So. 2d 112, 115 (Miss. 1949) (quoting *Great Atlantic & Pacific Tea Co.*, 177 Miss. 562, 171 So. 550, 552 (Miss. 1937)). *See also Leflore v. State*, 196 Miss. 632, 18 So. 2d 132, 134 (Miss. 1944).

The view in the instant matter failed to meet the statutory requirements, as well as this Court's long-established criteria. First, Defendants failed to provide facts in support of their request for a view. The exchange among the trial court and counsel is provided below:

Mr. Ayers: ... And then we were going to ask you for a jury view and then move to an expert witness. And just so - - on the jury view, I think we got it down to something where it's pretty straight forward. We would bring the accident vehicle, the subject Tundra would be out here in front of the courthouse in an area that's been blocked off adjacent to an undamaged 2000 Tundra. And there would be no testimony. In fact, what I've done in the past is the bailiffs take the jury out, the jury looks for whatever period of time Your Honor approves, and the bailiffs bring them back and the lawyers don't go, and whether the court goes is up to the court. But no testimony, no opportunity for anybody to influence or suggest or anything. And then they would come back in and then we would move to our next witness.

The Court: All right.

Mr. Ayers: And the only reason I'm bringing it up now is I need to get it out there if you approve.

The Court: All right. I'll let you know at the break.

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