STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

Oral argument should not be needed to affirm this just judgment. The appeal's 

lack of merit should be apparent from the briefs and record, as should the merit of the 

cross-appeal.

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

ARGUMENT 

I. The Trial Court Was Correct To Reject Plaintiffs' Motion for 
Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict or New Trial. 

Plaintiffs argue their rust issue as if the burden of proof at trial were on Toyota 

instead of on them. A JNOV for plaintiff would require every element of the claim, 

including the damages amount, to be proved beyond refute and found by the court as a 

matter of law, leaving no issue for a jury to decide.13 It is practically impossible for this 

standard to be satisfied in a personal injury action, where, among other things, causation 

is almost always for the jury, and the damages award is subject to jury discretion. 14 

Here, Toyota successfully contested every element of plaintiffs' liability case. 

Plaintiffs' baseless defect and causation contentions were completely refuted, to a degree 

13 See, e.g., MRCP 50 comment ("[I]t is the law in Mississippi that questions of fact are for the 
jury .... Rule 50 is a device for the court to enforce the rules oflaw by taking away from the jury cases 
in which the facts are sufficiently clear that the law requires a particular result."). 

14 See, e.g., Illinois Cent. Gulf R.R. Co. v. Milward, 902 So. 2d 575, 582 (~ 38) (Miss. 2005) 
("The question of whether the defendant's negligence was a proximate contributing cause of the 
plaintiff's injuries is ordinarily one for the jury"); Gatewood v. Sampson, 812 So. 2d 212, 223 (~28) 
(Miss. 2002) ("It is primarily the province of the jury to determine the amount of damages to be 
awarded"). 
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that would have entitled defendants to JNOV had the jury found for plaintiffs. 15 The jury 

reached the only result that the law and evidence could sustain when it returned a verdict 

for defendants. A JNOV for plaintiffs on this record is out of the question. 

Plaintiffs' motion for new trial was also meritless. Plaintiffs demonstrated no error 

at all, much less any clearly erroneous decision adversely affecting their substantial 

rights. 16 

II. The Jury View Was Proper and Aided the Search for Truth. 

The trial court acted well within its discretion in allowing the jury to inspect the 

subject vehicle and an exemplar in front of the courthouse. The subject vehicle and 

exemplar were too large to be brought into the courtroom. They were placed by the curb 

just outside. The court instructed the jury to walk outside with the bailiffs and view them 

briefly, without any comment to the jury or testimony. T 1154. One lawyer for plaintiffs 

and one lawyer for defendants were allowed to observe, escorted by another bailiff. Id. 

" See T 1143-49 (detailed argument for directed verdict). 

16 "[A] trial court should grant a motion for a new trial 'only when upon a review of the entire 
record the trial judge is left with a firm and defmite conviction that the verdict, if allowed to stand, would 
work a miscarriage of justice.'" Ford Motor Co. v. Tennin, 960 So. 2d 379, 390 (~37) (Miss. 2007). To 
demonstrate error in the admission or exclusion of evidence, the movant must show that the decision was 
an abuse of discretion. Troupe v. McAuley, 955 So. 2d 848, 856 (~ 19) (Miss. 2007). To amount to an 
abuse of discretion, the decision must have been, not just mistaken, but "arbitrary and clearly erroneous." 
Id. A "party must do more than simply show some technical error has occurred before he will be entitled 
to a reversal on the exclusion or admission of evidence." Thorson v. State, 895 So. 2d 85, 126 (~93) 
(Miss. 2004). '''[F]or a case to be reversed on the admission or exclusion of evidence, it must result in 
prejudice and harm or adversely affect a substantial right of a party." ld. (quoting Terrain Enter., Inc. v. 
Mockbee, 654 So. 2d 1122, 1131 (Miss. 1995». See also MRCP 61 (court "at every stage of the 
proceeding must disregard any error or defect in the proceeding which does not affect the substantial 
rights of the parties"); MRE 103(a) ("Error may not be predicated upon a ruling which admits or excludes 
evidence unless a substantial right of the party is affected"). 
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Plaintiffs' case attacked the structural design of the Tundra as defectively weak, 

faulting in particular the allegedly weak double-door structure. Viewing the exemplar 

allowed the jury to see for itself the structure that plaintiffs' witnesses had complained 

about, to better understand the testimony. 

Plaintiffs' case also required the jury to hear and consider testimony about the 

interior space of the Tundra and how a human body would move within that space as the 

vehicle rolled.!7 Viewing the exemplar allowed the jury to see the interior space of a 

Tundra to better understand that testimony. 

Finally, plaintiffs' case described the massive crushing of the driver's side of the 

subject Tundra as a roof "failure." Plaintiffs denied that the crush occurred on the initial 

impact with the ground after the flight across Vaiden Road. To assess those assertions, 

the jury deserved to see the subject vehicle for themselves side-by-side with an 

undamaged model. 

In all these respects, the inspection assisted the jury in understanding the facts and 

ascertaining the truth, which is the purpose of trials and of the rules. See MRE 102. 

Photographs are no substitute for inspecting the actual object at issue, especially a large 

and complex object like a motor vehicle. See, e.g., Seal v. Miller, 605 So. 2d 240, 248 

(Miss. 1992) ("We disagree with Seal's assertion that the photographs in this instance 

were enough to allow the jury an adequate view of the inside of the car"); Hutchins v. 

Page Contractors, Inc., 513 So. 2d 944, 946 (Miss. 1987) ("within the sound discretion of 

17 See evidence summarized above in n. 7. 
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the trial judge"). Plaintiffs offer not the slightest credible reason to think that the 

inspection compromised the search for truth. 

Plaintiffs' argument does not demonstrate error or prejudice, much less substantial 

prejudice sufficient to warrant a new trial.'s Plaintiffs' contention that the "'organized 

court' did attend the view" (Brief at 9) just because the trial judge chose to remain in the 

courthouse instead of walking outside with the jury and bailiffs is not supported. The 

court remained fully organized and highly supervised throughout the inspection, which 

was carried out in accordance with the judge's explicit instructions. T 1179. This point is 

also not supported by a contemporaneous objection.'9 

Plaintiffs' contention that Toyota "failed to provide facts" in support of its request 

for the view is also unsupported. Plaintiffs' argument assumes that the colloquy they cite 

(Brief at 10-11, quoting from T 1050-52) can or should be viewed in isolation, as if no 

other record existed. But that is not the case. 

The jury view did not take place until after Toyota had started putting on its case. 

T 1179. By then, plaintiffs' entire case was of record - encompassing almost 5 days of 

testimony and dozens of exhibits. Extensive pre-trial proceedings were also of record, 

18 MRCP 61 ("No error in either the admission or the exclusion of evidence ... or in anything 
done or omitted by the court or by any of the parties is ground for granting a new trial ... or otherwise 
disturbing a judgment ... , unless refusal to take such action appears to the court inconsistent with 
substantial justice") 

19 The "specific ground of objection" must be stated unless it is apparent from the context. 
MRE 103(a) (emphasis added). "[T]he trial court will not be held in error unless it has had an 
opportunity to pass on the question. Wilson v. General Motors Acceptance Corp., 883 So. 2d 56, 73 
(~ 78) (Miss. 2004). Plaintiffs opposed any jury view at all, but they never objected that the trial judge 
had to walk to the curb with the jury. 
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including multiple motions. The trial court could not possibly have needed more record 

to understand why the jury might benefit from viewing the vehicles; nor could the jury 

have needed any further explanation of what they were about to see. 

The cases plaintiff cite do not support the result they seek. Floyd v. Williams 

(cited Brief at 9-10) was the defendant's appeal from a jury verdict awarding plaintiffs the 

value of ornamental trees cut in violation of reservations in a timber deed. 198 Miss. 350, 

22 So. 2d 365 (1945). The trial court deemed a jury view unnecessary, and this Court 

agreed, finding no grounds for reversaL The case is no precedent for the result sought 

here. 

Poteete v. City o/Water Valley (cited Brief at 10, 12-14) was the plaintiffs' appeal 

from a jury verdict for the city on plaintiffs' claim that the city had improperly diverted 

surface water from the street onto plaintiffs' lot. 207 Miss. 173,42 So. 2d 112 (Miss. 

1949). The jury view was allowed "[iJmrnediately when the jury was impaneled, and 

before the [plaintiffs] had even called their first witness," without a record, and over the 

plaintiffs' objection that the site had' substantially changed. 42 So. 2d at 114. Subsequent 

testimony indicated that defendants had altered the site deliberately and materially in 

anticipation of the jury view?O The record now before the Court is not remotely 

comparable to Poteete.21 

20 Potetee, 42 So. 2d at 114-1S ("all of the [plaintiffs'] proofthereafterward offered was to the 
effect that upon the very next day after filing of the suit the city began work on the street, restored its 
fonner level, and opened the ditches, and that thereafterward there had been no surface water drained 
from the street upon plaintiffs' lot"). 

21 Technically, Poteete was reversed because of an erroneous jury instruction that improperly 
shifted to plaintiffs the burden of proof on one of the city's defenses. 42 So. 2d at 113. The jury view 
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The capital murder case Green v. State (cited Briefat 12) is authority against 

reversal here. 614 So. 2d 926 (Miss. 1992). Green found that allowing a jury view of a 

shot-up police car was not an abuse of discretion. 614 So. 2d at 935-36. Green stressed 

the breadth of trial court discretion to allow and supervise a jury view. Jd. at 936 ("this 

Court will reverse only in the event of a clear abuse of discretion"). Green held that 

normal deterioration from transportation and storage at least as severe as that plaintiffs 

complain of here, which is easily explained to and understood by the jury, was irrelevant. 

Jd. 22 

Plaintiffs' contention that the exemplar was not a true exemplar, because it was not 

a TRD model, is a red herring. It was not disputed that the roof structures of the two 

vehicles were identical. T 1361-62, 1434. The design differences were all in the 

suspension and completely irrelevant to this crash and to plaintiffs' defect theories. Jd. 

The jury was informed about what the differences were, and the view gave the jury an 

opportunity to see those differences for themselves, by comparing the exemplar to the 

subject vehicle, further promoting the search for truth. 

Plaintiffs' final tack on this issue is to equate jurors' alleged touching of the 

vehicles during the inspection to an unauthorized independent experiment or private 

investigation. There is no merit to the argument. 

was an additional issue. 

22 Leflore v. State, 196 Miss. 632,18 So. 2d 132 (1944) (cited Brief at 10) is distinguishable and 
irrelevant for reasons explained in Green. 614 So. 2d at 936 (noting that Leflore involved "a viewing 
with no justifiable reasons for the inspection stated, and where the scene was 20 miles from the 
courthouse, ranged over distance of a quarter of a mile, and the viewing took place at a different time of 
year"). 
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First, there is no comparison between the minimal touching alleged here and the 

unauthorized independent investigations addressed in the cases cited plaintiffs. It strains 

credulity to suggest that the minimal touching alleged here was in any way unfairly 

prejudicial to plaintiffs' case. Except for their conc1usory assertion, plaintiffs offer no 

reason to think that it was. 

Second, if they believed that some prejudice had occurred, plaintiffs should have 

raised the issue contemporaneously so that the trial court could have determined the facts 

and taken corrective action, such as a cautionary instruction, if warranted. Since plaintiffs 

did not raise this point by contemporaneous objection, they did not give the trial court a 

chance to determine the facts or to give a cautionary instruction, if needed. The only 

factual record of this alleged touching is an affidavit prepared by their counsel weeks 

after the trial, and after the hearing on plaintiffs' post-trial motions, in belated support of 

assertions made in their motion for new trial. CP 239 (~ I) (plaintiffs' 11126/08 

"supplemental" post-hearing submission of evidence in support of post-trial motion) & 

CP 243-44 (11125/08 affidavit of plaintiffs' counsel). That is insufficient. A specific 

contemporaneous objection is required. MRE 103(a)(I). 

This issue cannot justify another trial. 
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III. Although Plaintiffs Should Not Be Heard to Complain of Their 
Own Verdict Form, the Jury's Intentions Were Perfectly Clear. 

With the issue of the verdict fonn, plaintiffs are exploiting a typographical error of 

their own making on a verdict fonn they tendered, which was used over Toyota's 

objection.23 Plaintiffs should not be allowed to use an error they created to avoid a 

defense verdict. See Carr v. State, 655 So. 2d 824,847 (Miss. 1995) ("This Court has 

previously held that it will not reverse for an error created by [a party's 1 own 

instruction"). 

Plaintiffs also should not be heard to say that the jury's intent was unclear when 

they did not say so before the jury was dismissed. Had there been any question about the 

jury's intent (which there was not), the proper remedy would have been additional 

deliberations by the same jury to clarify its intent, not a new trial. 24 Plaintiffs did not ask 

for clarification because the jury's intent was perfectly clear. This point should be 

deemed waived. 

In any event, the jury could not possibly have misunderstood how to .use plaintiffs' 

verdict fonns to return a verdict for plaintiffs, had the jury had any intention of doing so. 

Plaintiffs used a projector during closing to display their verdict fonns to the jury and to 

show the jury exactly how to mark the fonns to return a verdict for plaintiffs - by 

checking "Yes" in response to question 1, and then filling in the numerous lines of 

23 CP 182 (Toyota's written objections to plaintiffs' verdict forms), T 1826-29. 

24 See MRCP 49(c) (authorizing continued deliberations to clarifY ambiguity); URCCC 3.10 
(same, where "a verdict is so defective that the court cannot determine from it the intent of the jury"). 
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question 2 with dollar amounts for various categories of damages. T 1872-73. Plaintiffs 

did this not once but twice - first for Clark (T 1872-73) and then again for Clark's ex

wife, Christie Clark Johnston (T 1873-74). (The typographical error appeared on Clark's 

verdict form only, not on Johnston's.z5) The trial court also read and explained both 

verdict forms to the jury. T 1853-54. 

After briefly deliberating, the jury marked both verdict forms by checking "No" in 

response to question 1 and by leaving the numerous damages lines blank. CP 210-13 (RE 

Tab 4). 

The jury's intention to return a verdict for the defense could not have been clearer. 

Nothing more was required. "No special form of verdict is required, and where there has 

been a substantial compliance with the requirements of the law in rendering a verdict, a 

judgment shall not be . .. reversed for mere want of form." MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-7-157 

(1972) (emphasis added). 

"[T]he test of whether a verdict is sufficient as to form 'is whether or not it is an 

intelligent answer to the issues submitted to the jury and expressed so that the intent of 

the jury can be understood by the court.'" White v. Stewman, 932 So. 2d 27, 37 ('I[28) 

(Miss. 2006) (quoting Sentinel Indus. Contracting Corp. v. Kimmins Indus. Servo Corp., 

743 So. 2d 954, 969 ('I[40) (Miss. 1999)}. 

The jury's verdict easily satisfied this standard. There are no grounds for upsetting 

the jury's clear verdict. 

25 Compare CP 210 (Clark's verdict fonn) andCP 212 (Johnston's)( RE Tab 4). 
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IV. The Trial Court Acted Well Within Its Discretion in Admitting Lee 
Carr's Reconstruction Opinion. 

Admission of expert opinion is not grounds for a new trial unless the opinion is so 

unreliable and prejudicial that the decision to admit it is an abuse of discretion 

compromising the opponents substantive rights. MRE 103(a)(I); Troupe, 955 So. 2d at 

856 (~ 19) ("The trial judge has the sound discretion to admit or refuse expert testimony; 

an abuse of discretion standard means the judge's decision will stand unless the discretion 

he used is found to be arbitrary and clearly erroneous"). That cannot possibly be said of 

Lee Carr's reconstruction opinion. The reliability of Carr's opinion was thoroughly

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